Technical Compendium | Home Farm, Sandhills

6. Archaeology and Cultural Heritage

6.1 Introduction

6.1.1 Pegasus Group has produced a heritage appraisal on behalf of Gallagher Estates, which provides a
high-level assessment of potential heritage issues which could constrain the development at Home
Farm, Sandhills.

6.1.2 This appraisal will identify designated heritage assets within and in the vicinity of the proposed site.
Where appropriate, non-designated assets will be identified. It will provide an initial assessment of the
significance which will also include assessing whether the proposed development site contributes
towards the significance of the assets through setting. The appraisal will conclude with a statement of

whether the heritage may present a key constraint to development.

Designated Assets

6.1.3  Within a 1km search area from the site boundary there are four Listed Buildings, all at grade Il and

one Scheduled Monument. These are shown on Figure 6.1 below.
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Figure 6.1 Location of listed buildings (scheduled monument located to the south)
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The Listed Buildings are:
¢ The Wyrley and Essington Canal Anglesey Branch Railway Aqueduct — 1077180 — 0.7km

north-northwest of the site boundary;

» Wyrley and Essington Canal Footbridge at Ogley Junction — 1087076 — 0.2km north of the

site boundary;

¢ Sandhills Pumping Station — 1421472 — 0.25km east of site boundary; and
¢ Fighting Cocks Farmhouse — 1374262 — 0.6km southeast of the site boundary.

The Scheduled Monument is Hillfort known as The Castle Fort at Castlebank Plantation (1017244)
located 1km south of the site boundary. The majority of this asset is located beyond the 1km

boundary, extending south towards Castlehill Road.

There are no Registered Parks and Gardens, Registered Battlefields, Conservation Areas or World

Heritage Sites within the site, study area or in close proximity.

The Wyrley and Essington Canal Anglesey Branch Railway Aqueduct is located to the north of the
proposed site boundary. It is an aqueduct carrying the Anglesey branch of the Wyrley and Essington
Canal over the South Staffordshire Railway. The Canal was originally built in 1797 widened and made
navigable in 1850, with the railway built in 1849. This aqueduct was constructed in 1856. The aqueduct

was constructed by local engineers, Lloyds, Foster and Co from Wednesbury.

The significance of this asset lies primarily in its architectural and historic value. It is evidence of the
emergence of the modern transport networks of both canal and railway. It provides evidence of the
engineering skill of the area which came to prominence in the 19th-century. It also provides evidence
of the growth in prosperity of the area in the industrial period, aided by the construction of

transportation networks.

The setting of this asset is provided by the railway and the canal, both of which provide the reason
for the construction of the asset. The setting is also formed by the remainder of the canal, but with

diminishing contributions to significance the greater the distance from the asset.

The site does not form part of the setting of the asset. Although located adjacent to a branch of the
canal, there were numerous branches of the canal along its length and the site does not contribute to
the significance and understanding of this asset. Therefore, development within this area would not

result in any harm to the significance of this heritage asset.

The Wyrley and Essington canal Footbridge at Ogley Junction is located to the north of the proposed
development. The footbridge carries the towpath of the Anglesey Branch over disused Ogley locks
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section of the main canal which was closed in 1954. The bridge was constructed in 1829 and is of cast

iron with brick abutments. It was constructed by Horsley Iron Works.

The significance of this asset lies in its historic and architectural value. It is constructed from cast iron,
like a number of the other structures along the canal, lending it an aesthetic coherence and tying it
into the contemporary industrial landscape. The historic value lies in the information it provides for the

development of the canal system and the rise in industrial activity in this area in the 19th-century.

The setting of the asset is formed by the canal and the towpath. These provide the reason for the
construction of the asset. There is some connection with the rest of the canal network however the
contribution this makes to the significance of the asset diminishes the further away from the asset the

canal reaches.

The site does not form part of the setting of the asset. Although another branch line of the canal does
cut across the site, the site does not contribute towards the significance or understanding of the asset.
If the canal arm crossing the site was still extant, the contribution would be greater, but it no longer is.
Change within the site would create change within the immediate surrounds of the asset, but would
not cause any harm.

The Sandhills Pumping Station is a water pumping station built in 1935 by F. J. Dixon for the South
Staffordshire Waterworks Company and was constructed by Thomas Lowe and Sons Ltd. It was
constructed in response to the growing population of South Staffordshire and the increased demand
for a clean water supply. Sandhills Pumping Station was constructed in a stripped-classical style and
pumps water via two boreholes. The original pumping engine has been replaced but the machinery is

still in use today.

The significance of this asset lies in its architectural and historic value. It is a good quality design and
example of an inter-war pumping station. Although the machinery is lost, the fabric of the building has
seen little change and the purpose is still legible. It has historic value in the information it provides for

the social history of the area.

The setting of this asset is its location. It was placed to take advantage of the water table and proximity
to settlements. There is no connection with the site and the site does not form part of its setting.
Change within the site resulting from the development will not cause any harm to the significance of

the asset.

Fighting Cocks Farmhouse is a late 18th-century farmhouse, of typical L-shaped plan. The name of

the farmhouse suggests it may have been the site of cock-fighting in the post-medieval periods.

The significance of this asset lies within its historic and architectural value. It is a good example of the
local vernacular and provides evidence for the rise of the agrarian economy and sustaining of that

economy in an area which was becoming increasingly industrial.
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The setting of this asset is the agricultural surroundings of the asset. This contributes to the
significance of the asset. The site does not form part of the setting of this asset. Any changes within

the site will not harm the significance of the asset.

The Scheduled Monument of the hillfort known as The Castle Fort at Castlebank Plantation is located
to the south of the proposed development. It consists of the earthwork remains of the univallate hillfort
at Castlebank Plantation, on the crown of the hill, northwest of Castle Hill Road. The remains comprise
a bank and outer ditch enclosing an oval area orientated southeast to northwest and is 170m long and
140m wide. The northwest corner of the hillfort a clay pit has been excavated which is now filled with
water. This clay pit has removed all traces of the bank and ditch and ancillary works associated with
the pit has also removed earthworks on the southwestern portion. There are also quarry pits located
to the southeast outside the banks. It is likely that the entrance was located to the northeast with a

break in the ditch and the slightly more gentle slope on the hillside beyond.

The significance of this asset lies in its archaeological and historic value. It provides evidence of the
construction of hillforts and information into the design and evolution of defensive forts. It also has the
potential to provide information on the material culture of the occupants. It has historic value as is it a
rare example of a late Bronze Age, early Iron Age hillfort. It provides evidence of how the contemporary

society utilised the landscape.

The setting of the asset is the landscape within which it sits. As a fort, it is defensive in nature and
therefore the views from this asset add to the significance of the asset. The landscape around the fort
would have supported the inhabitants of the fort and therefore this also contributes to the setting of

the asset.

The site may fall within the setting of the fort, however the contribution it makes to the significance is
very low. In addition, although the entrance of the fort may face towards the site, this view is now
blocked by woodland and there is no appreciable visual relationship between the site and the fort.

Change within the site is unlikely to cause harm to the significance of the scheduled monument.

Non-designated Assets

A search was undertaken of the Wolverhampton and Walsall Historic Environment Record (HER) via
Heritage Gateway. This identified a small number of assets within the site and in close proximity.
The assets are identified with their HER number.

The line of the Sandhills Arm of the Wyrley and Essington canal once bisected the site, crossing form
the main canal running northeast towards Sandhills Farm and is identified as a non-designated asset
(6893). It can be seen on the 1889 Ordnance Survey map and the line of this arm is shown until the

late 20th-century mapping. The appearance of the canal arm on the 1st edition maps indicates that at
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this time, Sandhills Farm was a small industrial complex, with the canal constructed to help transport
the goods. The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map shows the canal arm terminating at Sandhills with a
wharf area and possibly loading bay. This complex of industrial buildings and the canal wharf are also
identified as a non-designated asset. The actual date of construction of this arm of the canal is
unknown, however it was marked as out of use on the 1902 Ordnance Survey map. But this time, the
entire northern portion of the site, north of the canal arm and two fields to the south of Sandhills

(labelled here as The Sandhills) is shown as covered in a vast orchard.

Located within the site and visible on the 1st edition Ordnance Survey is Sandhills House. This is a
non-designated heritage asset (6892). The present owner maintains that this house was built in the
17th century as a gamekeeper's lodge, however the current fagade is 19th-century. A lodge building
is identified at the junction of Lichfield road and the entrance drive to Sandhill house. This lodge (5891)
was constructed in the late 19th-century, but first appears on the 1902 Ordnance Survey map.

Home Farm (5992) is also a non-designated heritage asset in its own right. It was constructed in the
19th-century with a walled garden and a mature belt of sycamore.

Located to the southeast of Sandhills, adjacent to Lichfield road is the site of Shire Oak House (5993).
This is a mid-19th-century villa, set within its own grounds. It has undergone a series of name changes,
first known as Bleak House, the Hill House and finally Shire Oak House by 1919. It is now a residential
home. Adjacent to this is the site of a gravel pit (10217). It was still being worked in 1938 and was one
of a number of small-scale gravel extraction pits located on the periphery of the site.

At the southwestern corner of the site is the Shire Oak Inn (10218). This is shown on the 1st edition
Ordnance Survey map but labelled as Anchor Inn. Itis also believed to have been the site of a brewery.

The series of historic Ordnance Survey maps shows the change in the landscape which has occurred
over the late 19th and early 20th century. Within the site, the major changes have been the introduction
of the Sandbhills Arm of the Wyrley and Essington Canal which cut across the site and the later use of
a large portion of the area as an orchard. The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map shows the site, with
Sandhills House, Home Farm. The entrance to Sandhills House is shown leading northwest from

Lichfield Road, with what appears to be a formal avenue of trees lining the driveway.

In the surrounding landscape, directly adjacent to the site boundary is the site of Bleak House. This
building is shown within its own grounds. On the 1902 Ordnance Survey map, the name of the building
has been changed to Hill House, and the 1919 Ordnance Survey map has this as Shire Oaks, with a
large gravel pit located immediately west.

The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map shows the settlement of Cutshill to the northwest, separated
from the site by the canal. The settlement is very linear, with little other development in the vicinity of
the site. There are a number of collieries within the area, but it is likely that during the 19th -century,

the site was used for agricultural purposes.
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The 1902 Ordnance Survey map shows the orchard covering the majority of the site. It also shows the
area of Sandhills Farm as enlarged, with a number of gravel pits and possible glasshouses. A lodge
building has appeared at the entrance to the drive leading to Sandhills House, a non-designated asset
in its own right. It also shows the development of Shire Oak to the southwest of the site with housing

appearing along Chester Road.

There is little change within the site until the removal of the orchard in the mid-20th- century. The
settlements within the surroundings of the site expand during the 20th- century. By the 1950s, the
settlement of Shire Oak has expanded with housing added on the northeastern side of Chester Road
and linking the settlement of Ogley Hay, forming one continuous strip of development. This expansion
continues until the extents seen in the present day. The proposed development site remains

unchanged.
Conclusions

This appraisal has shown that there are no major heritage constraints which could preclude the
development of this site. There are a small number of designated assets within the vicinity of the site,
but it has been demonstrated that the site does not contribute to their significance. Therefore, change

within the site would cause no harm.

The appraisal has identified the potential for below ground archaeology to be located within the
footprint. This consists primarily of early modern, industrial archaeology. In particular, it is likely that
any intrusive works would identify the line of the Sandhills arm of the Wyrley and Essington Canal. In
addition, any works in the vicinity of Sandhills House and Home Farm may uncover evidence of wharf

and industrial canal structures.

The northern portion of the site was beneath a large-scale orchard for at least 50 years, with two fields
to the south of Home Farm also included. It is possible that given the density of the planting and the
age of the orchard, this would have removed archaeological deposits, or at the very least caused fairly
substantial truncation. The site is likely to have been used for agricultural purposes throughout is

recent history. There is little potential for earlier phases of archaeology within the site.
Therefore, archaeological investigation would be required for areas which have the potential to disturb

the Sandhills arm of the canal, in addition to a Heritage Assessment to accompany any planning
application for this site.
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